WEST VIRGINIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES

GRIEVANCE BOARD

LAN DEYERLE,



Grievant,

v.
Docket No. 2013-2231-CONS                                                                     
WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF

HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES,


Respondent. 

DECISION

Grievant, Lan Deyerle, was employed by the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources (“DHHR”) in Bureau of Public Health (“BPH”) as an Office Assistant III. Grievant filed five grievances against Respondent, which were consolidated at Docket No. 2013-2231-CONS, by Orders dated August 2, 2013, and August 27, 2013. The first two grievances were filed on April 1, 2013, at Docket No. 2013-1666-DHHR.
 Grievant filed directly to level three.
 The statement of grievance on one alleges "suspension without good cause" and the relief sought is "to be made whole in every way including back pay with interest and all benefits restored." The statement of grievance on the other alleges "unpaid suspension as illegal retaliation." The relief sought is "to be made whole in every way including back pay with interest, all benefits restored and disciplinary action for retaliator,” to which was attached Grievant's Motion for Summary Judgment, also dated April 1, 2013.
 Grievant’s Motion for Summary Judgment was denied at the level three hearing on March 10, 2014. 

Grievant filed a third grievance on June 21, 2013, at Docket No. 2013-2145-DHHR and alleges "Suspended without good cause for an indefinite reason and indefinite duration." The relief sought is "To be made whole in every way including back pay with interest and no retaliation." This grievance related to a second suspension of Grievant, beginning on or about June 19, 2013. Grievant filed a Motion to Amend this statement of grievance on July 15, 2013. The amended statement of grievance added "While under suspension, Grievant was illegally directed by Respondent to attend an interview without being allowed representation." Her additional request for relief is, "Respondent's 'guidelines for representation' be [sic] declared contrary to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3 (g)(1) and, consequently void." 

Grievant's fourth grievance was filed on July 25, 2013, at Docket No 2014-0083-DHHR and alleges "Dismissed without good cause." The relief sought is "to be made whole in every way including restoration of back pay with interest and benefits restored." Grievant’s fifth grievance was filed on August 5, 2013, at 2014-0121-DHHR, alleging, "payment of final wages not made within 72 hours." The relief sought is "To be made whole in every way including treble damages."

A level three hearing was held in Charleston, West Virginia, on March 10, 2014, before Administrative Law Judge, Susan Basile. Grievant personally appeared at the hearing with her representative, Gordon Simmons, UE Local 170, West Virginia Public Workers Union. Respondent was represented by Steven R. Compton, Assistant Attorney General for the State of West Virginia. At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties agreed to submit Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the last of which was received at the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board on April 22, 2014. This grievance became mature for decision on that date.

Synopsis
This grievance consolidates five grievances filed by Grievant, stemming from disciplinary actions taken against her by Respondent; a three-day suspension for insubordination, another suspension concerning an investigation into a verbal altercation between Grievant and her Supervisor, which raised allegations that Grievant's conduct created a hostile work environment and, finally, Grievant's termination. Her conduct allegedly violates a number of DHHR policies.
 

Grievant was suspended for three days for allegedly insubordinate conduct in failing to comply with the request of her superior to complete a newly assigned task. Grievant contends she was not insubordinate, but was simply responding to conflicting directives and, when the conflict was resolved, completed the task. Also, Grievant contends Respondent was retaliating against her with this suspension because she had filed a prior grievance. Respondent demonstrated Grievant was insubordinate and that her conduct justified a three-day suspension. Grievant did not prove retaliation by Respondent.
Respondent suspended Grievant again while it conducted an investigation into an altercation between Grievant and her supervisor, which allegedly created a hostile work environment. Grievant alleges she was improperly suspended for an indefinite period of time and for an indefinite reason, in violation of the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel (“Administrative Rule”), 143 C.S.R. 1 §§ 12.3 and 12.3.b.(2012). Grievant established that Respondent violated the general mandate of Administrative Rule 12.3 to limit suspensions to "a specific period of time." Therefore, her suspension was improper.  

Grievant also contends that Respondent’s directive to attend an investigatory interview requested by Respondent, absent a representative, was contrary to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), and that Respondent’s 'guidelines for representation' are, therefore, void. Grievant proved Respondent violated this statute. The investigation proceeded, without affording Grievant the due process of appearing with a representative, as requested, to hear the evidence and defend her conduct against possible disciplinary action, in violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). To the extent that Respondent’s “guidelines for representation,” violate the provisions of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1) by prohibiting its employees from having a representative, if requested, in a meeting which might result in discipline, they are void as contrary to law.
Respondent completed its investigation and contends it had good cause to terminate Grievant because Grievant’s conduct violated DHHR hostile workplace/harassment policies. However, had Grievant been permitted to hear the charges against her and answer them in an interview, with the benefit of having her representative present, the outcome of the investigation may well have been different. It is impossible to know what discipline, if any, she would have received for alleged violation of the hostile workplace policy. Respondent denied Grievant the statutory and procedural protections to which she was entitled under W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1) and Administrative Rule 12.3 and wrongfully terminated her.
Grievant claims Respondent discriminated against her based her national origin and by failing to provide her with reasonable accommodations. Grievant failed to prove that Respondent discriminated against her.

Grievant also asserts that she was entitled to a predetermination conference before being terminated. Due to Grievant's wrongful termination, based on Respondent’s violations of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1) and Administrative Rule 12.3, the undersigned need not address this issue.


Finally, Grievant requests that she be awarded damages since her wages were not timely paid, an alleged violation of W. Va. Code § 21-5-4(b). The Grievance Board does not have the authority to grant the requested relief as to this particular grievance. 

The following facts are found to be proven by a preponderance of the evidence based upon an examination of the entire record developed in this matter.
Findings of Fact

1. Grievant has worked for the State of West Virginia for seventeen years and, most recently, was employed for four and one half years by DHHR as an Office Assistant III in BPH working on the Vendor Unit ("Unit") for the Office of Nutrition Services/WIC Program.
2.
On December 28, 2012, Grievant was placed on a Performance Improvement Program ("PIP") for the period of January 2, 2013, through February 1, 2013, for unacceptable performance of her job duties. This PIP addressed a number of deficiencies, among them, Grievant's failure to enter a sufficient number of Vendor Price Lists (“VPLs”). Significantly, the PIP stated "I believe it is important for you to understand that neither your supervisor nor the vendor unit members will perform your work for you … ’’ It also documented deficiencies in filing, answering phone calls and failing to be on task, e.g., being on the Internet instead of performing a directed task. (R Ex 4).

3.
On January 30, 2013, Grievant was repeatedly asked to assist on a time critical project of folding letters/filling envelopes for a large mailing, (“mailing”) which had to go out that day. Grievant’s help was necessary because a letter-folding machine was jammed. Anyone who was “free” was asked to help.
4.
Ms. Maria Bowles, who was in Vendor Management on the Unit, first approached Grievant to ask for her help in stuffing the envelopes. In her role within the Unit, it was permissible for Ms. Bowles to ask Grievant to work on tasks, including the mailing. Nonetheless, Grievant refused to follow Ms. Bowles’ direction to help. This made it necessary for Ms. Bowles to go to Ms. Cindy Pillo, a supervisor to Grievant, and the then acting Director for the Office of Nutrition Services, to ask her to request Grievant's help. (Testimony of Ms. Riley and Ms. Pillo and R Ex 7).
5.
Grievant's immediate supervisor, Ms. Sandra Riley, Program Manager for BPH/WIC, was absent that day and under her direction, via e-mail, Grievant had previously been asked to enter VPLs into the agency database. Grievant told Ms. Pillo about this directive, but Ms. Pillo informed Grievant that she needed to work on the newly assigned task instead. Rather than beginning the project, Grievant consulted with another supervisor, Ms. Heather Vanoy, as to what she should do, given this new directive from Ms. Pillo. Grievant told Ms. Vanoy there were already five other employees working on the mailing. Ms. Vanoy initially agreed that Grievant should continue “entering VPLs.” However, due to the Unit’s urgent need to timely send out the mailing, Ms. Cindy Pillo subsequently consulted with Ms. Vanoy and they agreed Grievant should assist with the mailing, rather than continue with her other work. (R Ex 2 and testimony of Ms. Pillo and Ms. Riley).

6.
Grievant was informed of Ms. Vanoy’s and Ms. Pillo’s joint decision and finally assisted with the mailing. Even Grievant’s supervisor, Ms. Vanoy, assisted with the mailing. Ms. Vanoy helped Grievant by putting on labels. (R Ex 2 and testimony of Ms. Pillo and Ms. Riley).

7.
However, Grievant appeared “aggravated and irritated” about working on the mailing. Ms. Pillo had to correct the way Grievant was folding the letters, though Grievant had been instructed on how to fold them on previous occasions. (Testimony of Ms. Pillo).

8.
Grievant complained to Ms. Pillo that it was “stupid,” to fold the letters and fill the envelopes as requested. In response, Ms. Pillo explained to Grievant that the letters were folded in a particular way to allow the vendors to readily see the date on the VPL. Even after Ms. Pillo’s explanation of why the letters were to be folded as instructed, Grievant again pronounced the task “stupid.” Ms. Pillo testified that it was simply a part of Grievant’s job to assist with mailings and she found Grievant's repeated comments about the mailing to be insubordinate. (Testimony of Ms. Pillo and Ms. Nicholas).
9.
Ms. Rebecca Nicholas, DHHR Specialist for the WIC help desk, and a co-worker of Grievant, worked with Grievant for approximately 2 years. On January 30, 2013, Ms. Nicholas worked in a cubicle near Grievant. She overheard Grievant questioning Ms. Pillo about the mailing and calling either the project or Ms. Pillo stupid.
 Ms. Nicholas thought Grievant's behavior/conversation was disrespectful to Ms. Pillo. 

10.
Ms. Nicholas testified that, when angry, Grievant was “very verbal” and “slammed things on her desk.” These behaviors caused Ms. Nicholas to dislike working with Grievant and Grievant's co-workers to avoid her. For example, Ms. Nicholas would not ask Grievant to "take phones," though this was one of Grievant's responsibilities, because she did not want Grievant to “yell” at her.
11.
Ms. Nichols agreed that that there is a difference, among cultures, in how people express themselves. Grievant raised her voice several times a week, but only sometimes in excitement. Ms. Nicholas did not necessarily think this was attributable to cultural differences. (Testimony of Ms. Nicholas).

12.
Ms. Nicholas heard Grievant talking with callers/customers of the Unit on the phone and hanging up on them. She was able to confirm that Grievant had hung up because the caller ID showed that the callers immediately phoned back and informed her they had been cut off. 

13.
Ms. Melissa Larsen, Secretary I for WIC, was in a supervisory role over Grievant and worked with her for five years. Grievant had problems with some of her co-workers on the Unit and Grievant exhibited an "abrupt attitude.” (Testimony of Ms. Larsen).

14.
Due to the incident on January 30, 2013, Grievant’s continued unprofessional behavior and other performance issues, Respondent gave Grievant a PIP Addendum, dated February 12, 2013, extending the December 28, 2012, PIP to April 13, 2013, and suspended her for three days without pay.

15.
The February 12, 2013, PIP stated, interalia, that Grievant’s supervisors observed her on her computer when she should have been helping the Unit, that she attended a class on February 5, 2013 sponsored by DOP, entitled Dealing with Angry and Upset Customers and Providing Exceptional Customer Service, to help her become more successful in her job duties and was scheduled for additional classes. It noted that she had been verbally counseled on numerous occasions concerning unacceptable work performance and appropriate Office Assistant III protocol and process. The PIP also noted that Grievant's activities between 4:30 PM and 5:00 PM " … continue to fail the expectations previously set forth. You have extensive non-work-related-company between these times.”

16.
On April 16, 2013, Grievant met with Ms. Riley, and Denise Farris, Director of the Office of Nutrition Services. During that meeting, Grievant was given her PIP Addendum and Employee Performance Appraisal (“EPA”) 2, rating her performance from August 1, 2012 through February 28, 2013. Both documents outlined continued performance issues and unprofessional behavior, including VPLs that were not entered timely, VPLs sent to the incorrect region, unprofessional manners regarding phone calls, "hanging up on callers” and answering with “hello.” Grievant became agitated during that meeting with her supervisors. (R Ex 6).
17.
On May 8, 2013, Respondent received a letter from WVU Physicians of Charleston stating that Grievant would be absent from work from May 8, 2013 through May 22, 2013. She was diagnosed with severe depression and moderate anxiety and authorized to return to work on May 23, 2013, with a physician’s request for accommodations of “Low stress environment, private cubicle preferably. Change work location/switch departments, limited multitasking and exposure to employees who harass” until November 23, 2013.
18.
Both Ms. Riley and Ms. Pam Holt, Human Resources Director for BPH, attempted to accommodate the “change work location” request by offering a more private cubicle/workspace, but Grievant refused it. (Testimony of Ms. Holt and Ms. Riley).

19.
On June 13, 2013, Ms. Riley moved Grievant from her desk to work in a large, quiet area in the Vendor Unit, where she was directed to answer phones. Grievant did not have access to her computer in that area. Per Ms. Riley’s instructions, Grievant, “needed to be off of her computer” to answer phones. Grievant complied with Ms. Riley’s request on June 13, 2013.
20. On June 14, 2013, Ms. Riley again asked Grievant to answer the phones and work on a mailing in the same area, away from her desk and computer. Ms. Riley explained that Grievant did not need her computer because she “had no work at all to do on the computer” on June 14, 2013. Ms. Riley also wanted Grievant in this area because she could better assist Grievant and it offered more space in which to work on the mailing.
21. After Grievant had been given her instructions, Ms. Riley found Grievant back at her desk and on her computer. Grievant said she had something she needed to print off. Ms. Riley told Grievant to return immediately to the other work area to answer phones. Grievant then became involved in a verbal altercation with Ms. Riley. Grievant defiantly, with arms crossed, told Ms. Riley that if she (Grievant) could not be on her computer, then Ms. Riley could not be on hers. Grievant refused to answer the phones. When Ms. Riley reiterated the tasks that Grievant was expected to complete, Grievant continued to be very confrontational with Ms. Riley and repeatedly said she did not understand, even though these were tasks Grievant had performed before. (Testimony of Ms. Riley).
22. Ms. Riley told Grievant that she was being insubordinate. At some point, while in the open area of the Unit, Grievant was yelling and screaming at Ms. Riley. During this confrontation, of approximately ten minutes, Grievant accused Ms. Riley of “treating her like a dog,” saying something to the effect that, “I am not your dog. Why do you treat me like your dog?” Ms. Riley then caused Grievant to move to the Vendor Unit to have a more private conversation of an additional ten minutes. Grievant then left the workplace and went home. (Testimony of Grievant, Ms. Riley, Ms. Larsen and Ms. Nicholas).
23. Grievant was upset that she could not be on her computer on June 14, 2013. Ms. Larsen was present and overheard the altercation. "Grievant kept saying to Ms. Riley, 'I want to send you an email.'” Ms. Riley replied but "I am right here." Ms. Larsen heard Grievant's voice becoming louder and heard her “yelling,” but Ms. Riley was "talking in an even tone." Ms. Larsen described the exchange as "brief and caustic" and then it "went behind closed doors" in the Vendor Unit. Ms. Larsen was very upset, scared and aggravated by the confrontation, finding it disruptive. She chose to take a break from her area because the confrontation made it difficult to work. (Testimony of Ms. Larsen).
24. Ms. Nicholas notified another supervisor of the confrontation, hopeful that the supervisor could lend assistance to Ms. Riley to calm Grievant down.
25. Ms. Riley remained calm throughout the incident and repeatedly tried to explain to Grievant what she was expected to do. (Testimony of Ms. Nicholas, Ms. Larsen and Ms. Riley).
26. Ms. Riley thought that if she could not calm Grievant down, she would have to call security for assistance.
27. Ms. Nicholas witnessed the confrontation and found it "scary," as she did not expect this kind of behavior in the workplace, in particular, "this level of yelling and screaming." Grievant's behavior did not "make any sense" and she felt that "if someone lost that much control … [you] don't know what is going to happen." The scene was disruptive not only to Grievant's unit, but to those on the "other side of the floor” in other areas. (Testimony of Ms. Larsen).
28.
Grievant’s behavior created a scene sufficient to draw approximately 5 other employees to the area where Ms. Riley and Grievant were speaking and it prompted others to ask what was going on/what had happened after they heard Grievant yelling. (Testimony of Ms. Riley, Ms. Nicholas and Ms. Larsen).

29.
Grievant’s co-workers generally tended to avoid asking Grievant for help, including on assignments that she was required to perform, because she engaged in disruptive behavior and was difficult to work with.

30.
On June 14, 2013, Ms. Larsen sent Ms. Riley an e-mail stating, “I overheard the ‘conversation’ held in the vendor unit between your employee, (Grievant) this is the note I am making for myself; this type of attitude is considered ‘hostile environment.’” Ms. Riley forwarded Ms. Larsen’s e-mail to Ms. Holt and added “now we have other employees stating it is a hostile work environment.” (R Ex 8).
31.
Due to the June 14, 2013, incident and the allegations that Grievant’s conduct created a hostile work environment, on June 19, 2013, Grievant was placed on suspension pending investigation of those allegations. (Testimony of Employee Performance Manager, Ms. Kerri Nice).

32.
By letter dated June 19, 2013, Respondent informed Grievant her “suspension is effective immediately and will be in effect throughout the course of this investigation, but normally should not be for more than thirty (30) calendar days. However, should an extension become necessary, you will be advised in writing.” (Emphasis added).

33.
Authorized by Commissioner Marian Swinker, of DHHR/BPH, Ms. Holt requested the Office of Human Resources Management, Employee Management Unit, to conduct a formal investigation into the allegations against Grievant. Ms. Kerri Nice, Employee Performance Manager, and Ms. Carlotta Gee, EEO
, Civil Rights Specialist, conducted the investigation. By letter dated July 8, 2013, Ms. Nice asked Grievant to come in for an interview related to the investigation and informed Grievant that she would not be permitted to have representation in that interview. Respondent did not offer to take Grievant off unpaid suspension and compensate her to come in for the requested interview. (Letter filed with Grievance Board on July 11, 2013.) 

34.
Grievant’s representative, by letter dated July 10, 2013, responded by informing Ms. Nice that Grievant “has been suspended and is grieving the disciplinary action. Since she is under unpaid suspension, she is not able to meet with you, and, furthermore, will not attend any meeting that might result in disciplinary action without a representative, as is her right under West Virginia Code §6C-2-3(g)(1).” (R Ex 10).

35.
Respondent conducted the investigation without Grievant’s participation
and concluded Grievant’s conduct violated DHHR Memorandum 2123, Violent/Hostile Work Environment
 and Department of Personnel Policy DOP-P6, Prohibited Workplace Harassment.
 
36. Respondent offered Grievant a predetermination hearing on July 19, 2013. She was notified of this hearing by certified letter dated July 15, 2013, and informed she had the right to representation in that hearing and if she failed to participate, consideration for disciplinary action would proceed absent her input. 
37. Grievant had three days’ notice of the scheduled pre-determination meeting. When Grievant informed Respondent on July 18, 2013, that due to a previous engagement, she would be unable to attend the July 19, 2013, hearing, Respondent did not offer or attempt to reschedule the predetermination hearing. A predetermination hearing was never held relating to Grievant’s discharge.
38. Grievant was dismissed, effective August 3, 2013, by letter dated July 22, 2013, from Commissioner Swinker based upon alleged “gross misconduct.” Specifically, the letter stated, “On July 10, 2013, through your designated representative, you declined a request from investigators for an interview to discuss allegations that your conduct has created a hostile work environment. As a result of that decision, the investigation was conducted absent your input. The investigation, performed by the Office of Human Resource Management, has substantiated that your conduct created a hostile work environment.” (R Ex 3).
39. In the July 22, 2013, dismissal letter, Respondent also asserted that it was not required to provide the pre-determination meeting before discipline/termination under the circumstances. Specifically, Respondent stated:

"In accordance with the Department of Personnel, West Virginia Administrative Rule Section 12.2 a.3, a predetermination conference and fifteen (15) days’ notice is not required when the public interests are best served by withholding the notice or when the cause of dismissal is gross misconduct.” (R Ex 3).

40. Ms. Riley had completed an EPA 3 annual final evaluation of Grievant but could not recall how Grievant was assessed.

41. Mr. John Hawkins testified on behalf of Grievant. Mr. Hawkins studied Intercultural Studies at Lee University in Tennessee, toward obtaining a Bachelor of Science degree in that area, with 21 hours remaining to finish. He did a practicum in Brazil as part of his studies, spent time in the Philippines and has worked as a missionary in other subcultures. Mr. Hawkins testified that his academic and practical experience in cross-cultural interaction were such that he was made sensitive to the fact that western observers could be sufficiently unaccustomed in the characterization of Asian conduct so as to misconstrue intentions and meanings. Mr. Hawkins observed that loudness and rapidity of speech might constitute different signifiers in Chinese versus European-based cultures, and misinterpretation need not be the result of deliberate or conscious biases. Those raised in one culture might be predisposed to evaluate certain behaviors, including forms of verbal expression, in a fashion that would be unintentionally adverse.
42. Grievant admittedly has anger and mood control issues that affected the workplace. In an effort to address these issues, Grievant had been seeing a physician and taking prescribed medication. Grievant also willingly attended classes suggested by her supervisor to assist with her workplace communications skills. Although Grievant stated that they helped, she continued to have issues with anger control leading up to the June 14, 2013 incident.

43. Respondent produced no evidence of prior discipline against Grievant, nor did Respondent produce previous EPAs or other documentation regarding Grievant’s work performance.

Discussion
The burden of proof in disciplinary matters rests with the employer, and the employer must meet that burden by proving the charges against an employee by a preponderance of the evidence. Procedural Rules of the W. Va. Public Employees Grievance Board, 156 C. S. R. 1 § 3 (2008); Ramey v. W. Va. Dep't of Health, Docket No. H-88-005 (Dec. 6, 1988). A preponderance “is generally recognized as evidence of greater weight, or which is more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it.” Petry v. Kanawha County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 96-20-380 (Mar. 18, 1997). "The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not." Leichliter v. W. Va. Dep't of Health and Human Res., Docket No. 92-HHR-486 (May 17, 1993). Where the evidence equally supports both sides, the employer has not met its burden. Id. The burden of proof in disciplinary matters rests with the employer, and the employer must meet that burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. Ramey v. Dep’t of Health, Docket No. H-88-005 (Dec. 6, 1988). Respondent contends Grievant was properly suspended for three days for insubordination, pursuant to Administrative Rule §12.3, when she failed to accept the authority of a superior who requested she complete an assignment that had taken priority over a previously assigned task. Grievant responds that her suspension for insubordination was unjustified as she was given conflicting directives and, when those were resolved, she completed the newly assigned task. Insubordination "includes, and perhaps requires, a willful disobedience of, or refusal to obey, a reasonable and valid rule, regulation, or order issued . . . [by] an administrative superior." Butts v. Higher Educ. Interim Governing Bd., 212 W. Va. 209, 569 S.E.2d 456 (2002) (per curiam). See Riddle v. Bd. of Directors, So. W. Va. Community College, Docket No. 93-BOD-309 (May 31, 1994); Webb v. Mason County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 26-89-004 (May 1, 1989). Employees are expected to respect authority and do not have the unfettered discretion to disobey or ignore clear instructions." Reynolds v. Kanawha-Charleston Health Dep't, Docket No. 90-H-128 (Aug. 8, 1990). An employee's belief that management’s decisions are incorrect, absent a threat to the employee’s health and safety, does not confer upon him the right to ignore or disregard the order, rule, or directive. Vickers v. Bd. of Directors/W. Va. State College, Docket No. 97-BOD-112B (Aug. 7, 1998). See Parker v. W. Va. Dep't of Health and Human Res., Docket No. 97-HHR-042B (Sept. 30, 1997). "[F]or there to be 'insubordination,' the following must be present: (a) an employee must refuse to obey an order (or rule or regulation); (b) the refusal must be willful; and c) the order (or rule or regulation) must be reasonable and valid." Butts, supra. In other words, there must be not only a refusal to obey a reasonable and valid order, but the refusal must be willful. Id. "[F]or a refusal to obey to be 'willful,' the motivation for the disobedience must be contumaciousness or a defiance of, or contempt for authority, rather than a legitimate disagreement over the legal propriety or reasonableness of an order." Id.
On January 30, 2013, Grievant was given a reasonable assignment to assist with a mailing. She was first properly asked to assist with the mailing by Ms. Bowles and refused, and then by her superior, Cindy Pillo. Then she went to another supervisor to ask whether she had to assist, because “there were five people working on the project,” and she had a previously assigned task from Ms. Riley, to enter VPLs. Grievant appeared to question the judgment of Ms. Pillo that another person was needed to help with the mailing to assure that it went out timely, when she told Ms. Vanoy that five people were already working on the project. In Ms. Riley’s absence, Grievant’s other supervisors in the office determined that the mailing should take precedence. Grievant was also subject to their requests. Unfortunately, she lacked the flexibility her employer reasonably expected to adapt to the newly established priority for that day. 
Additionally, after Grievant began work on the mailing, she told Ms. Pillo, at least twice, that it was “stupid.” Even after Ms. Pillo’s reasonable explanation of why the letters were to be folded with the date showing, Grievant repeated that the assignment/method of folding was “stupid.” Ms. Nicholson, who witnessed/heard this unprofessional behavior/conversation viewed it as disrespectful to Ms. Pillo. “[A]n employer has the right to expect subordinate personnel "to not manifest disrespect toward supervisory personnel which undermines their status, prestige, and authority . . ." McKinney v. Wyoming County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 92-55-112 (Aug. 3, 1992) (citing In re Burton Mfg. Co., 82 L.A. 1228 (Feb. 2, 1984)). Grievant’s behavior towards Ms. Pillo certainly served to undermine her status and authority. Moreover, it followed a pattern of similar behavior by Grievant. Grievant’s repeated questioning of the validity or necessity of the directives of her superiors is similar to the grievant’s conduct in Tallman v. Division of Highways, Docket No. 2012-0275-DOT (August 24, 2012). In Tallman, supra., the Grievance Board found that Tallman was insubordinate for continually questioning his work assignments, “up the chain of command,” when he had already been informed of why he was given those assignments. The Board noted that, though Tallman had received an answer from one of his supervisors regarding the assignment he questioned, “it was not the answer he wanted to hear, so he called … [someone else], rather than begin his work.” Even after talking with another of his supervisors, "Grievant [Tallman] continued to question the assignment every day.” Tallman eventually completed his assignment, but the Grievance Board nonetheless determined that, “Grievant’s response to the directive is the definition of defiance of, or contempt for authority, rather than a legitimate disagreement over the legal propriety or reasonableness of an order." Likewise, Grievant received a directive to work on the mailing and a reasonable explanation of why she needed to halt her previously assigned work, yet she questioned that directive by going to another supervisor. Then when told to fold the letters in a specified manner, she also questioned that further directive. The undersigned also notes that Grievant's newly assigned task was time-sensitive, such that Grievant’s supervisor apparently halted her “routine” work to help with it as well. 

In addition to the West Virginia Division of Personnel's regulation stating that employees may be suspended “for cause,” DHHR has a progressive disciplinary policy. Policy Memorandum 2104 provides:

[Progressive discipline] is determined by the severity of the violation, progressive discipline is the concept of increasingly severe actions taken by supervisors and managers to correct or prevent an employee's initial or continuing unacceptable work behavior or performance . . . . Progressive and constructive disciplinary action will progress, if required, along a continuum from verbal warning to dismissal, with incremental steps between (i.e. verbal warning, written warning, suspension, demotion, dismissal). . . . 
It is important to remember, however, that the level of discipline will be determined by the severity of the violation.
At the time of this incident, which occurred on or about January 30, 2013, Grievant was on a PIP that documented deficiencies in: filing; answering phone calls and failing to be on task, i.e., being on the Internet instead of performing a directed task; entering a sufficient number of VPLs daily. Significantly, the PIP stated "I believe it is important for you to understand that neither your supervisor nor the vendor unit members will perform your work for you … ’’ This PIP documented an ongoing problem with Grievant failing to complete her work and an apparent tendency to expect others to perform her work for her. Though Respondent had discretion to impose a less severe penalty than suspension, Respondent’s act of administering Grievant a three-day suspension for her first offense was in compliance with Section 12.3 of the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel; DHHR Policy Memorandum 2108, Employee Conduct; and DHHR Policy in Memorandum 2104, Guide to Progressive Discipline. Though Grievant finally completed the assigned task, Grievant’s repeated questioning “up the chain of command,” of the need to assist with the directed task, and of the assignment itself, constituted insubordination, justifying Grievant’s three-day suspension.

Three Day Suspension as Retaliation:

Grievant also contends that the three-day suspension was retaliation for having grieved her December 28, 2012, PIP.
 W. Va. Code § 6C-2-2(o) defines “reprisal” as “the retaliation of an employer toward a grievant, witness, representative or any other participant in the grievance procedure either for an alleged injury itself or for any lawful attempt to redress it.” In general, a grievant alleging reprisal or retaliation in violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-2(o), in order to establish a prima facie case, must establish by a preponderance of the evidence:
(1) that he engaged in protected activity (i.e., filing a grievance);
(2) that he was subsequently treated in an adverse manner by the employer or an agent;

(3) that the employer’s official or agent had actual or constructive knowledge that the employee engaged in the protected activity; and

(4) that there was a causal connection (consisting of an inference of a retaliatory motive) between the protected activity and the adverse treatment.
See Coddington v. W. Va. Dep’t of Health & Human Res., Docket Nos. 93-HHR-265/266/267 (May 19, 1994); Graley v. W. Va. Parkways Economic Dev. &Tourism Auth., Docket No. 91-PEDTA-225 (Dec. 23, 1991). See generally Frank’s Shoe Store v. W. Va. Human Rights Comm’n, 179 W. Va. 53, 365 S.E.2d 251 (1986). Once a prima facie case of retaliation has been established, the inquiry shifts to determining whether the employer has shown legitimate, non-retaliatory reasons for its actions. Graley, supra. See Mace v. Pizza Hut, Inc., 180 W. Va. 469, 377 S.E.2d 461 (1989). Grievant initiated a previous grievance, which is a protected activity. Commissioner Swinker was aware of this grievance, as she received a copy of the level one hearing notice for it on or about January 8, 2013. Commissioner Swinker issued an unpaid suspension of Grievant shortly following that, on March 28, 2013. Respondent’s knowledge of Grievant’s prior grievance, together with the relatively short time frame between the protected activity and the adverse employment action, suggests that retaliation or reprisal for filing the grievance may have been a motivating factor in Respondent’s determination that Grievant should be suspended. As such, Grievant has established a prima facie case of retaliation, requiring Respondent to establish legitimate, non-retaliatory reasons for its actions. See Frank’s Shoe Store, supra., Graley, supra. Grievant is also permitted to present evidence to demonstrate that the non-retaliatory reasons for Respondent’s decisions are unworthy of credence or involve nothing more than a pretext to facilitate retaliation. Bennett v. W. Va. Dep’t of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 98-HHR-378 (Apr. 27, 1999). See Conner v. Barbour County Bd. of Educ., 200 W. Va. 405, 489 S.E.2d 787 (1997); W. Va. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Myers, 191 W. Va. 72, 443 S.E.2d 229 (1994). Respondent provided testimony of credible witnesses to establish that Grievant questioned and resisted her supervisor’s initial request to work on the mass mailing and was defiant and argumentative when she finally assisted in the task, which constituted insubordination. Grievant failed to demonstrate that Respondent’s reasons for suspension were pre-textual. Therefore, Respondent proved it had a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for Grievant's three-day suspension.

Discrimination Claims:
Grievant claims Respondent discriminated against her, based upon its alleged failure to provide reasonable accommodations and upon her national origin. The undersigned will first address the issue of reasonable accommodations. Under the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12111, et seq., an employer must provide “reasonable accommodations” to an employee with a disability so that the employee can perform the essential duties of her job. 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. The Grievance Board has determined that it does not have authority to determine liability for claims that arise under the West Virginia Human Rights Act (“WVHRA”) W. VA. CODE §§ 5-11-1, et. seq., including a claim of handicap discrimination, or the ADA. Nevertheless, the Grievance Board has authority to provide relief to employees for “discrimination,” “favoritism,” and "harassment," as those terms are defined under W. Va. Code § 29-6A-2-2(d), which includes jurisdiction to remedy discrimination that would also violate the Human Rights Act. “Discrimination,” under W. Va. Code § 29-6A-2-2(d), is defined as “any differences in the treatment of employees unless such differences are related to the actual job responsibilities of the employees or are agreed to in writing by the employees. To prove discrimination, an employee must demonstrate:
(a) That he or she has been treated differently from one or more similarly-situated employee(s);

(b) that the different treatment is not related to the actual job responsibilities of the employees; and,

(c) that the difference in treatment was not agreed to in writing by the employee.

Frymier v. Higher Education Policy Comm’n, 221 W. Va. 306, 655 S.E.2d 52, (2007); Harris v. Dep’t of Transp., Docket No. 2008-1594-DOT (Dec. 15, 2008). Grievant had serious medical conditions while working on the Unit and presented a Physician’s Statement dated May 15, 2013, to Respondent stating that she suffered, "Major depression severe. Anxiety moderate,” which were being treated by, “Supportive therapy. Medicinal management." The accommodations requested for May 23, 2013, through November 23, 2013, were “Low stress environment, private cubicle preferably. Change work location/switch departments,” and limited multitasking and exposure to employees who harass [Grievant] … ” 
Firstly, the undersigned will consider whether Grievant was denied the requested accommodation of a private cubicle. Ms. Holt and Ms. Riley testified that they each offered Grievant an alternative, more private cubicle, which she refused. Yet Grievant stated she had never seen Ms. Holt before the level three hearing, that she requested a private cubicle and the request was denied. Therefore, the testimony of the witnesses in this grievance conflicts concerning Grievant’s assertion that Respondent did not provide her with any of the requested accommodations. In situations where the existence or nonexistence of certain material facts hinges on witness credibility, detailed findings of fact and explicit credibility determinations are required. Jones v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 96-HHR-371 (Oct. 30, 1996); Pine v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 95-HHR-066 (May 12, 1995). An Administrative Law Judge is charged with assessing the credibility of the witnesses. See Lanehart v. Logan County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 95-23-235 (Dec. 29, 1995); Perdue v. Dep't of Health and Human Res./Huntington State Hosp., Docket No. 93-HHR-050 (Feb. 4, 1993). The Grievance Board has applied the following factors to assess a witness's testimony: 1) demeanor; 2) opportunity or capacity to perceive and communicate; 3) reputation for honesty; 4) attitude toward the action; and 5) admission of untruthfulness. Additionally, the administrative law judge should consider 1) the presence or absence of bias, interest, or motive; 2) the consistency of prior statements; 3) the existence or nonexistence of any fact testified to by the witness; and 4) the plausibility of the witness's information.  See Holmes v. Bd. of Directors/W.Va. State College, Docket No. 99-BOD-216 (Dec. 28, 1999) Perdue, supra. In observing the demeanor of Ms. Holt and Ms. Riley, the undersigned found these witnesses to be both professional and sincere, whereas Grievant at times seemed confused and less than forthcoming. For example, when asked how long she had been living in the United States, Grievant responded she did not know. The undersigned finds it implausible that Grievant would not recall this very basic fact. This response, and others by Grievant, indicated to the undersigned that Grievant was confused, uncooperative or insincere. Therefore, Grievant’s testimony on this point is found to be less reliable than Ms. Holt’s and Ms. Riley’s, and it is more likely to the undersigned that Grievant was offered an alternative and more private cubicle in which to work, but refused it. 
Additionally, Ms. Riley testified that the "large, quiet,” area with few employees, in which Grievant was assigned to work on June 13 and 14, 2013, met Grievant's need for accommodation, though this was admittedly not the only reason Grievant was placed in that space. The undersigned finds that Respondent attempted to make an accommodation to Grievant by offering to provide her with a private cubicle. In addition, placing her in a quiet, largely vacant area, to perform limited tasks conformed with the request for accommodation, whether that was Respondent’s intent or not. However, whether those accommodations were reasonable is a question best left to a tribunal having jurisdiction of claims arising under the West Virginia Human Rights Act. It is not the role of a Grievance Board administrative law judge to decide whether there has been a violation of the disability laws, nor to substitute her judgment of what constitutes a reasonable accommodation for the employer’s, but instead to decide whether prohibited discrimination has occurred. Crowl v. Jefferson County Health Department, Docket No. 2008-1574-JefCH (January 27, 2009).
 Finally, Grievant did not introduce any evidence showing that other similarly-situated employees with medical conditions requiring accommodation were treated differently than she and therefore did not establish that she was discriminated against by Respondent.

 Grievant asserts that Ms. Riley "played on Grievant's known medical condition of mood disorder, undoubtedly compounded by … linguistic and cultural differences for which Riley demonstrated not even a sliver of sensitivity." Grievant originates from China. Grievant sought to qualify Mr. Hawkins as an expert witness on cross-cultural interactions, between Asian and European-based cultures in particular, because his education and training indicate that western observers could be sufficiently unaccustomed in the characterization of Asian conduct so as to misconstrue intentions and meanings. His testimony was admitted over Respondent’s objection to his qualifications. Mr. Hawkins did not complete his degree in Intercultural Studies but, nonetheless, his education coupled with his practical experience qualifies him as an expert.
 The undersigned finds that Mr. Hawkins’ testimony has some probative value to determine whether Grievant encountered workplace discrimination based upon national origin, but it is given limited weight, because he did not obtain his degree and has not worked in an area of employment that directly utilized his intercultural education and experience. See San Francisco v. Wendy’s Intern., Inc., 656 S.E.2d 485, 221 W.Va. 734 (W.Va., 2007). Mr. Hawkins’ testimony established that loudness and rapidity of speech might constitute different signifiers in Chinese versus European-based cultures, and misinterpretation need not be the result of deliberate or conscious biases. Those raised in one culture might be predisposed to evaluate certain behaviors, including forms of verbal expression, in a fashion that would be unintentionally adverse. Therefore, Grievant asserts that Respondent's employees erroneously perceived her admittedly sometimes-rapid speech and loud tone of voice, which are specific to her culture, as indications of hostility. There was testimony to establish that Grievant's speaking voice was sometimes loud due to excitement, enthusiasm or some emotion other than anger or hostility. However, there was also credible testimony to establish that Grievant’s “loud” voice was, at times, indicative of anger, and testimony concerning her physical actions, such as “slamming” things, also clearly suggestive of anger. Moreover, Grievant provided no evidence of anyone in the workplace, most importantly her superiors, making negative comments about, or otherwise treating her differently, because of her national origin. Additionally, Grievant did not provide any evidence that she was treated differently than similarly situated employees, with regard to disciplinary actions taken.

The undersigned notes that Grievant apparently functioned well at DHHR/in the workplace for approximately fifteen or sixteen years, without any significant issues relating to her workplace behavior, despite her cultural and linguistic differences. Therefore, it is much more probable that Grievant’s recent difficulties in the workplace were not attributable to cultural/linguistic differences, but rather, to a change in her performance and her unprofessional behavior and demeanor in the workplace. Grievant failed to prove that Respondent discriminated against her based upon her national origin or for any other reason. 
Suspension for investigation:
Respondent contends that it properly suspended Grievant to investigate allegations that her conduct created a hostile work environment due to the verbal altercation of June 14, 2013 and other conduct of Grievant. Grievant contends Respondent violated the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 (2012) ("Administrative Rule §12.3"), because the reason given and the “period” for Grievant's suspension were indefinite.
 As this grievance does not involve a disciplinary matter, Grievant bears the burden of proving her grievance by a preponderance of the evidence. Procedural Rules of the W. Va. Public Employees Grievance Bd. 156 C.S.R. 1 § 3 (2008); Howell v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 89-DHS-72 (Nov. 29, 1990). The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not. Leichliter v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 92-HHR-486 (May 17, 1993). Administrative Rule 12.3.b requires Respondent/employer to “give the employee…notice of the specific reason or reasons for the suspension.” In its letter of July 22, 2013, Respondent specifically informed Grievant that she was being suspended as a result of the incident on June 14, 2013, with Ms. Riley and that an investigation would be undertaken, thereby meeting the requirements to provide a definite reason for suspension as required under Administrative Rule 12.3.b. In addition, Grievant was informed by letter dated July 8, 2013, from OHRM (“Office of Human Resources Management”) that an investigation was being conducted into allegations that her conduct had created a hostile work environment. 

Grievant also asserts Respondent violated Administrative Rule §12.3 because it suspended her for an indefinite time period. Administrative Rule §12.3 requires the employer to suspend employees "for a specific period of time, except where an employee is the subject of an indictment or other criminal proceeding." (Emphasis added). The Grievance Board and the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals have determined that it is not improper for an employer to suspend an employee indefinitely, without pay, pending a criminal investigation into the charges against him. Blaney v. Wood County Bd. of Educ., Docket No 03-54-169 (Jan. 16, 2004). Mills v. Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority/Eastern Regional Jail, Docket No. 06-RJA-256. (April 30, 2007); In Re: Atkinson, 193 W. Va. 358, 456 S.E.2d 202 (1995). Therefore, the above-mentioned exception of Administrative Rule 12.3 is in accord with West Virginia state law. However, Grievant clearly does not fall under the permissible exception of Administrative Rule 12.3, as she is not the subject of an indictment or a criminal proceeding. Therefore, Respondent was bound to comply with the general mandate of Administrative Rule 12.3 to specifically inform Grievant of the period of her suspension. Respondent informed Grievant her “suspension [is] effective immediately and will be in effect throughout the course of this investigation, but normally should not be for more than thirty (30) calendar days. However, should an extension become necessary, you will be advised in writing.” (Emphasis added). Respondent’s statement that Grievant’s suspension “normally should not be for more than thirty … days” is unspecific and seeks to avoid a definite statement of the time period of Grievant's suspension, in violation of Administrative Rule 12.3. Moreover, by Respondent’s caveat that “ … should an extension [of the suspension] become necessary, you will be advised in writing, ” Respondent is effectively asserting that it has the discretion to renew, and thus lengthen, Grievant's suspension beyond the already indefinite “normally” thirty days that it might take to complete its investigation. The Grievance Board recently determined that, “The discretionary renewal of suspensions creates uncertainty in what would otherwise be a specified period of time.” Ferrell, et. al., v. Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority/Western Regional Jail, Docket No. 2013-1005-CONS (June 4, 2013).
 Though the Grievance Board noted that Administrative Rule 12.3 is silent on the issue of renewable suspensions, it observed that “[t]he renewing of suspensions … runs contrary to the requirement of informing an employee of the specific time for which he or she is suspended.” Ferrell, supra. In conclusion, Grievant established that Respondent violated the general mandate of Administrative Rule 12.3 to limit suspensions to "a specific period of time." Upon this basis, Grievant’s suspension relating to the verbal altercation of June 14, 2103, was improper.

Due Process Denied During Investigation:
Grievant also contends that Respondent’s directive to attend an interview requested by Ms. Nice, absent a representative, was contrary to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), and that Respondent’s 'guidelines for representation' are, therefore, void. W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1) provides: “An employee may designate a representative who may be present at any step of the procedure as well as at any meeting that is held with the employee for the purpose of discussing or considering disciplinary action.” Respondent’s “guidelines for representation,” were not introduced into the record. However, Ms. Nice informed Grievant she could not have a representative in the requested interview, and Respondent admitted that its policy adhered to the guidelines provided in Knight v. Department of Health and Human Resources/Bureau for Child Support Enforcement, Docket Number 2008-0981-DHHR (August 6, 2009), which held that an employee is not entitled to representation during an investigatory interview unless “the individual who conducts the investigatory interview or questioning is also the one who could decide or recommend disciplinary action.” However, subsequent to Knight, supra., the Grievance Board in Beaton v. Department of Health and Human Resources/William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hospital, Docket No. 2013-0496-CONS (December 20, 2013), examined the Respondent’s Guidelines
 which instructed facility staff that employees do not have the right to have a representative present at an investigatory interview if conducted by staff members who do not have the authority to recommend or impose discipline. The Grievance Board determined that said policy violated the employees’ statutory rights, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), and was contrary to its recent decisions. See Koblinsky v. Putnam County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 2010-1036-CONS (Nov. 8, 2010). Therefore, the Grievance Board in Beaton, supra. determined “ … [E]mployees have a right to representation during investigatory meetings that are not per se discipline, but where discipline could result. To the extent that Knight v. Department of Health and Human Resources/Bureau for Child Support Enforcement, Docket Number 2008-0981-DHHR (August 6, 2009), ruled otherwise, it is expressly overruled.” (Emphasis added). “Regardless of the label or title given to a meeting by the employer, if the topic of the meeting is conduct of the employee that could lead to discipline, the employee has a statutory right to have a representative present if requested, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1).” Id. The interview Grievant was requested to attend by Ms. Nice would have, unquestionably, concerned Grievant's conduct and potential disciplinary action. The investigation proceeded, without affording Grievant the due process of an interview with a representative to explain or defend her conduct against possible disciplinary action, in violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). She was ultimately terminated without benefit of attending that interview with her representative. Grievant met her burden of proof and demonstrated that Respondent’s policy that its employees do not have the right to have a representative present at investigatory meetings is void as contrary to law.
However, Respondent further argues that Grievant was not denied representation during the investigation because she did not attend the requested interview. Respondent therefore contends that “this issue is … moot considering the underlying issue has already been decided along with the fact that Grievant was not interviewed with or without representation.” This argument is wholly without merit. Respondent informed Grievant that she could not have a representative at the interview, which clearly acted to deny her statutory right under W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). Perhaps even more troubling, after Grievant's representative replied in a letter to Respondent that Grievant would not agree to appear at an interview without representation, citing specifically to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), Respondent still did not attempt to schedule an interview with Grievant and her representative. Grievant elected, as was her right, not to attend the requested interview, due to Respondent’s violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). In conclusion, Grievant’s suspension was clearly improper given Respondent’s violations of this statute and of Rule 12.3, as discussed more fully above. 
Grievant further contends that she was not accorded representation, as permitted by W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), in the predetermination meeting held prior to issuance of her three-day suspension. Grievant was entitled to a representative in that meeting, but only if requested. However, Grievant did not introduce evidence that she asked to have a representative present and the request was denied. See Swiger v. Dep’t of Veteran’s Assistance Docket No. 2013-1134-DVA (Sept. 13, 2013), in which grievant Swiger “was not denied a representative in a predetermination hearing, as she never requested a representative to be present.” Nor did she establish that Respondent advised her, or otherwise informed her, through e.g., publication or dissemination of its guidelines for representation, that it was against its policy to have a representative present at that meeting. As such, Grievant has not shown that Respondent violated W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1) in connection with her three-day suspension.

Wrongful Termination:
Respondent contends that it established good cause to dismiss Grievant. In dismissal cases involving classified employees, the burden of proof is on the employer to establish the charges relied upon by preponderance of the evidence and to establish good cause for dismissing an employee. W. Va. Code § 29-6A-6. Davis v. Dep’t. of Motor Vehicles, Docket No. 89-DMV-569 (Jan. 22, 1990); Broughton v. W.Va. Div. of Highways, Docket No. 92- DOH-325 (December 31, 1992). The burden of proof in disciplinary matters rests with the employer, and the employer must meet that burden by proving the charges against an employee by a preponderance of the evidence. Ramey v. W. Va. Dep't of Health, Docket No. H-88-005 (Dec. 6, 1988). "The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not." Leichliter v. W. Va. Dep't of Health and Human Res., Docket No. 92-HHR-486 (May 17, 1993). Where the evidence equally supports both sides, the employer has not met its burden. Id. It is a well-settled principle of constitutional law, under both the State and Federal Constitutions, that an employee who possesses a recognized property right or liberty interest in his employment may not be deprived of that right without due process of law. Buskirk v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 175 W. Va. 279, 332 S.E.2d 579 (1985). It has previously been held that a full-blown hearing is generally not required before an employee may be terminated, but that employee has the minimum pre-deprivation right to at least have an opportunity to respond to the charges either orally or in writing. Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542, 105 S.Ct. 1487, 84 L.Ed.2d 494, --- (1985). Loudermill, 470 U.S. at 542. An employee is also entitled to written notice of the charges and an explanation of the evidence. Board of Education of the County of Mercer v. Wirt, 192 W.Va. 568, 453 S.E.2d 402 (1994). “In passing W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3 (g)(1), the Legislature established that the right to a representative at such meetings [concerning conduct which might result in discipline] is included in Due Process protections.” Beaton, supra. Though Grievant was informed in writing that she was suspended because of the incident with her supervisor on June 14, 2013, she did not have the opportunity of appearing with her representative during the investigation into that incident. Had Grievant been permitted to attend the requested interview, with the benefit of representation, the outcome of the investigation may have been different, and Grievant’s termination for gross misconduct avoided.
 In summary, it is impossible to know what discipline, if any, Grievant would have received resulting from the verbal altercation of June 13, 2013. Grievant proved that Respondent did not provide her with the due process to which she was entitled during its investigation. If future meetings are conducted that relate to the verbal altercation on June 14, 2013, or other conduct of Grievant which allegedly created a hostile work environment, Grievant is entitled to have a representative present, as requested. Given the foregoing violation of Grievant’s due process rights under W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), Grievant was wrongfully terminated.
In addition, Grievant asserts that she was entitled to, but not afforded, a predetermination hearing in connection with her termination. Respondent did not provide Grievant with a pre-determination hearing because of its finding that her actions constituted “gross misconduct.” However, its finding was made during an improper, “indefinite” suspension and resulted from an investigatory process that violated Grievant’s right to representation. Having determined that Respondent failed to follow the procedures established under Administrative Rule 12.3, and the statutory requirements of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), during Grievant’s suspension and investigation of the verbal altercation of June 14, 2013, which resulted in Grievant’s wrongful termination, the undersigned need not address this issue.
Failure to Timely Pay Final Wages


Finally, Grievant requests that she be awarded damages since her wages were not paid within 72 hours, an alleged violation of W. Va. Code § 21-5-12. Because this particular grievance involves non-disciplinary matters, Grievant bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. Procedural Rules of the W. Va. Public Employees Grievance Board, 156 C. S. R. 1 § 3 (2008); "A preponderance of the evidence is evidence of greater weight or more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it; that is, evidence which as a whole shows that the fact sought to be proved is more probable than not." Petry, supra. Respondent accurately replied that at the time of Grievant’s dismissal and the filing of this grievance, the law had changed to allow employers more than 72 hours to pay final wages.
 Nevertheless, the Grievance Board does not have subject matter jurisdiction to determine liability for claims made pursuant to the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collections Act. Blake v. Dep't of Health and Human Res./William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hosp. Docket No. 2013-0615-DHHR (June 11, 2013); Lunsford v. Dep't of Health and Human Res./William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hosp. Docket No. 2010-1386-CONS (Dec. 8, 2010). The Grievance Board does not have the authority to grant the requested relief as to this particular grievance. Grievant may prosecute this claim pursuant to W. Va. Code § 21-5-4. 
Mitigation of Damages:
The remaining issue involves the Grievant’s obligation to mitigate any damages she might incur as a result of a wrongful termination of her employment. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals addressed this obligation in the case of Mason County Bd. of Educ. v. State Superintendent of Schools, 170 W.Va. 632, 295 S.E.2d 719 (1982). In syllabus points two and three, Justice Neely wrote: 
2. Unless a wrongful discharge is malicious, the wrongfully discharged employee has a duty to mitigate damages by accepting similar employment to that contemplated by his or her contract if it is available in the local area and the actual wages received, or the wages the employee could have received at comparable employment where it is locally available, will be deducted from any back pay award; however, the burden of raising the issue of mitigation is on the employer.
3. Wages from any job taken by a wrongfully discharged employee will be deducted from his or her back pay award whether the work taken is comparable to the work contracted for or not, if the employee's performance of the job would have been incompatible with his or her performance of the contract. 
Id. At the level three hearing, counsel for Respondent established that Grievant has been working for some time since her suspension and dismissal. Accordingly, the issue of mitigation of damages was raised and must be considered. Grievant’s earnings should offset any back pay award. Respondent’s dismissal of Grievant was based upon an investigation of the June 14, 2013, verbal altercation between Grievant and her supervisor, which incident caused complaint that Grievant’s conduct allegedly created a hostile work environment. The dismissal was not upheld because Respondent’s guidelines for representation violated Grievant’s statutory and due process rights. Grievant’s dismissal was not malicious. Under these circumstances, Grievant is obligated to mitigate her damages and any wages Grievant earned between the time she was suspended and the time she is reinstated must be deducted from any back pay Grievant may receive. 


The following conclusions of law support the decisions reached.

Conclusions of Law

1. In dismissal cases involving classified employees, the burden of proof is on the employer to establish the charges relied upon by preponderance of the evidence and to establish good cause for dismissing an employee. W. Va. Code § 29-6A-6; Davis v. Dep’t. of Motor Vehicles, Docket No. 89-DMV-569 (Jan. 22, 1990); Broughton v. W.Va. Div. of Highways, Docket No. 92-DOH-325 (December 31, 1992). The burden of proof in disciplinary matters rests with the employer, and the employer must meet that burden by proving the charges against an employee by a preponderance of the evidence. Ramey v. W. Va. Dep't of Health, Docket No. H-88-005 (Dec. 6, 1988). "The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not." Leichliter v. W. Va. Dep't of Health and Human Res., Docket No. 92-HHR-486 (May 17, 1993). Where the evidence equally supports both sides, the employer has not met its burden. Id.
2. “An employee may designate a representative who may be present at any step of the procedure as well as at any meeting that is held with the employee for the purpose of discussing or considering disciplinary action.” W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). “The label given the meeting does not matter. If the topic of the meeting is conduct of the employee that could lead to discipline, the employee has a statutory right to have a representative present if requested.” Koblinsky v. Putnam County Health Department, Docket No. 2010-1306-CONS (November 2, 2010).
3. Regardless of the label or title given to a meeting by the employer, if the topic of the meeting is conduct of the employee that could lead to discipline, the employee has a statutory right to have a representative present if requested, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). Beaton v. Department of Health and Human Resources/William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hospital, Docket No. 2013-0496-CONS (December 20, 2013). 
4. It is a well-settled principle of constitutional law, under both the State and Federal Constitutions, that an employee who possesses a recognized property right or liberty interest in his employment may not be deprived of that right without due process of law. Buskirk v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 175 W. Va. 279, 332 S.E.2d 579 (1985); It has previously been held that a full-blown hearing is generally not required before an employee may be terminated, but that employee has the minimum pre-deprivation right to at least have an opportunity to respond to the charges either orally or in writing. Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542, 105 S.Ct. 1487, 84 L.Ed.2d 494, --- (1985). Loudermill, 470 U.S. at 542. An employee is also entitled to written notice of the charges and an explanation of the evidence. Board of Education of the County of Mercer v. Wirt, 192 W.Va. 568, 453 S.E.2d 402 (1994).
5. In passing W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3 (g) (1), the Legislature established that the right to a representative at such meetings [concerning conduct which might result in discipline] is included in Due Process protections.” Beaton v. Department of Health and Human Resources/William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hospital, Docket No. 2013-0496-CONS (December 20, 2013).
6. Respondent violated Grievant’s statutory and due process rights, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1), to attend an investigative interview, with a representative, upon her request, concerning her suspension of June 14, 2013, and the allegations that her conduct created a hostile work environment.
7.
Respondent prohibited Grievant from having her representative present at an investigative interview, which Respondent requested Grievant to attend, in violation of her statutory right pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). Since Respondent did not have authority to require Grievant to waive that right, Respondent’s suspension of Grievant beginning June 19, 2013, was improper.

8.
Any policy of Respondent that prohibits an employee of Respondent from having a representative present, upon his/her request, in any meeting with Respondent that concerns the conduct of the employee that could lead to discipline, is void, as contrary to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(g)(1). 
9.
The Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 (2012) states:
Suspension -- An appointing authority may suspend any employee without pay for cause or to conduct an investigation regarding an employee’s conduct which has a reasonable connection to the employee’s performance of his or her job. The suspension shall be for a specific period of time, except where an employee is the subject of an indictment or other criminal proceeding.

10.
The Grievance Board and the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals have determined that it is not improper for an employer to suspend an employee indefinitely, without pay, pending a criminal investigation into the charges against him. Blaney v. Wood County Bd. of Educ., Docket No 03-54-169 (Jan. 16, 2004). Mills v. Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority/Eastern Regional Jail, Docket No. 06-RJA-256. (April 30, 2007); In Re: Atkinson, 193 W. Va. 358, 456 S.E.2d 202 (1995). The Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 (2012) is in accord with West Virginia state law with its exception to the requirement that a suspension must be for a “specific period of time,” unless an employee is the subject of a criminal indictment or proceeding.
11.
The Grievance Board noted that the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 (2012) Administrative Rule 12.3 is silent on the issue of renewable suspensions, but determined that “[t]he renewing of suspensions … runs contrary to the requirement of informing an employee of the specific time for which he or she is suspended.” Ferrell, et. al., v. Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority/Western Regional Jail, Docket No. 2013-1005-CONS (June 4, 2013). “The discretionary renewal of suspensions [by the employer] creates uncertainty in what would otherwise be a specified period of time,” under circumstances in which the employee is not under indictment or the subject of a criminal proceeding. Ferrell, supra.
12.
Grievant established that Respondent violated the general mandate of the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 to limit her June 19, 2013, suspension to "a specific period of time."
13.
Due to Respondent’s violation of the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 (2012), Grievant’s suspension for the incident of June 14, 2013, was clearly improper.
14.
Insubordination "includes, and perhaps requires, a willful disobedience of, or refusal to obey, a reasonable and valid rule, regulation, or order issued . . . [by] an administrative superior." Butts v. Higher Educ. Interim Governing Bd., 212 W. Va. 209, 569 S.E.2d 456 (2002)(per curiam). See Riddle v. Bd. of Directors, So. W. Va. Community College, Docket No. 93-BOD-309 (May 31, 1994); Webb v. Mason County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 26-89-004 (May 1, 1989).

15.
"Employees are expected to respect authority and do not have the unfettered discretion to disobey or ignore clear instructions." Reynolds v. Kanawha-Charleston Health Dep't, Docket No. 90-H-128 (Aug. 8, 1990). An employee's belief that management’s decisions are incorrect, absent a threat to the employee’s health and safety, does not confer upon him the right to ignore or disregard the order, rule, or directive. Vickers v. Bd. of Directors/W. Va. State College, Docket No. 97-BOD-112B (Aug. 7, 1998). See Parker v. W. Va. Dep't of Health and Human Res., Docket No. 97-HHR-042B (Sept. 30, 1997). Additionally, an employer has the right to expect subordinate personnel "to not manifest disrespect toward supervisory personnel which undermines their status, prestige, and authority . . ." McKinney v. Wyoming County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 92-55-112 (Aug. 3, 1992) (citing In re Burton Mfg. Co., 82 L.A. 1228 (Feb. 2, 1984)).
16.
Respondent proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Grievant was insubordinate, justifying her three-day suspension.

17.
To prove discrimination, an employee must demonstrate:
(a) That he or she has been treated differently from one or more similarly-situated employee(s);

(b) that the different treatment is not related to the actual job responsibilities of the employees; and,

(c) that the difference in treatment was not agreed to in writing by the employee.

Frymier v. Higher Education Policy Comm’n, 221 W. Va. 306, 655 S.E.2d 52, (2007); Harris v. Dep’t of Transp., Docket No. 2008-1594-DOT (Dec. 15, 2008).

18. 
Grievant did not prove discrimination by Respondent based upon or national origin, failure to provide reasonable accommodations or upon any other basis.

19. W. Va. Code § 6C-2-2(o) defines reprisal as “the retaliation of an employer toward a grievant, witness, representative or any other participant in the grievance procedure either for an alleged injury itself or any lawful attempt to redress it.” To demonstrate a prima facie case of reprisal, the Grievant must establish by a preponderance of the evidence the following elements:
(1) that he engaged in protected activity (i.e., filing a grievance);
(2) that he was subsequently treated in an adverse manner by the employer or an agent;

(3) that the employer’s official or agent had actual or constructive knowledge that the employee engaged in the protected activity; and

(4) that there was a causal connection (consisting of an inference of a retaliatory motive) between the protected activity and the adverse treatment.
Cook v. Div. of Natural Res., Docket No. 2009-0875-DOC (Jan. 22, 2010); Vance v. Jefferson County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 02-19-272 (Oct. 31, 2002); Conner v. Barbour County Bd. of Educ., Docket Nos. 93-01-543/544 (Jan. 31, 1995). See also Frank’s Shoe Store v. W. Va. Human Rights Comm’n, 179 W. Va. 53, 365 S.E.2d 251 (1986).
20. If a grievant makes out a prima facie case of reprisal, the employer may rebut the presumption of retaliation raised thereby by offering legitimate, non-retaliatory reasons for its action. See Mace v. Pizza Hut, Inc., 377 S.E.2d 461 (W. Va. 1988.

21. If a grievant establishes a prima facie case of reprisal, the employer may rebut the presumption of retaliation by offering legitimate, nonretaliatory reasons for the adverse action. If the respondent rebuts the claim of reprisal, the employee may then establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the offered reasons are merely pretextual.  Burchell v. Bd. of Trustees/Marshall Univ., Docket No. 97-BOT-011 (Aug. 29, 1997).
22. Grievant made a prima facie case of reprisal as to the three-day suspension, but Respondent proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, a legitimate, non-retaliatory reason for the suspension.

23.
The testimony of the witnesses in this grievance conflicts on material issues of fact concerning Grievant’s assertion of disability based upon discrimination. In situations where the existence or nonexistence of certain material facts hinges on witness credibility, detailed findings of fact and explicit credibility determinations are required. Jones v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 96-HHR-371 (Oct. 30, 1996); Pine v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res., Docket No. 95-HHR-066 (May 12, 1995). An Administrative Law Judge is charged with assessing the credibility of the witnesses. See Lanehart v. Logan County Bd. of Educ., Docket No. 95-23-235 (Dec. 29, 1995); Perdue v. Dep't of Health and Human Res./Huntington State Hosp., Docket No. 93-HHR-050 (Feb. 4, 1993).
24.
The Grievance Board has applied the following factors to assess a witness's testimony: 1) demeanor; 2) opportunity or capacity to perceive and communicate; 3) reputation for honesty; 4) attitude toward the action; and 5) admission of untruthfulness. Additionally, the administrative law judge should consider 1) the presence or absence of bias, interest, or motive; 2) the consistency of prior statements; 3) the existence or nonexistence of any fact testified to by the witness; and 4) the plausibility of the witness's information. See Holmes v. Bd. of Directors/W.Va. State College, Docket No. 99-BOD-216 (Dec. 28, 1999) Perdue, supra.
25.
The Grievance Board does not have subject matter jurisdiction to determine liability for claims made pursuant to the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collections Act. Blake v. Dep't of Health and Human Res./William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hosp. Docket No. 2013-0615-DHHR (June 11, 2013); Lunsford v. Dep't of Health and Human Res./William R. Sharpe, Jr. Hosp., Docket No. 2010-1386-CONS (Dec. 8, 2010).
26.
“Unless a wrongful discharge is malicious, the wrongfully discharged employee has a duty to mitigate damages by accepting similar employment to that contemplated by his or her contract if it is available in the local area, and the actual wages received, or the wages the employee could have received at comparable employment where it is locally available, will be deducted from any back pay award; however, the burden of raising the issue of mitigation is on the employer. Syl. Pt. 2, Mason County Bd. of Educ. v. State Superintendent of Schools, 170 W.Va. 632, 295 S.E.2d 719 (1982).
27.
Wages from any job taken by a wrongfully discharged employee will be deducted from his or her back pay award whether the work taken is comparable to the work contracted for or not, if the employee's performance of the job would have been incompatible with his or her performance of the contract.” Syl. pt. 3, Mason County Bd. of Educ. v. State Superintendent of Schools, 170 W.Va. 632, 295 S.E.2d 719 (1982).

28.
Since her termination, Grievant has been employed elsewhere.
Accordingly, the grievance is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part. Grievant’s three-day suspension is UPHELD. Grievant’s suspension beginning on or about June 19, 2013, is VACATED. Grievant’s termination is VACATED. Respondent is ORDERED to immediately reinstate Grievant to her position with the seniority, salary, benefits and back pay, including statutory interest, from the date of her suspension in June of 2013, and to remove references of her termination and June 2013, suspension from the records. Any wages Grievant earned between the time she was initially suspended and the time she is reinstated shall be deducted from the back pay award. If meetings or interviews are held regarding Grievant's conduct on June 14, 2013, or any other conduct that allegedly created a hostile work environment, Respondent is ORDERED to allow Grievant to have a representative with her in those meetings/interviews, as she requested. Respondent is further ORDERED, in any meeting held with an employee, where the topic of the meeting is conduct of the employee that could lead to discipline, to allow the employee to have a representative present, if requested.
Any party may appeal this Decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. Any such appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days of receipt of this Decision. See W. Va. Code § 6C-2-5. Neither the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board nor any of its Administrative Law Judges is a party to such appeal and should not be so named. However, the appealing party is required by W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(b) to serve a copy of the appeal petition upon the Grievance Board. The Civil Action number should be included so that the certified record can be properly filed with the circuit court. See also 156 C.S.R. 1 § 6.20 (2008).
DATE:  July 15, 2014



__________________________









SUSAN L. BASILE

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE
�Two grievances concerning the same matter were apparently erroneously filed under the same docket number on the same date.


�Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(4), all five of the grievances addressed by this decision were filed directly to level three.


�Respondent’s counsel noted at the level three hearing that the grievance form he was in possession of at the time of hearing was different than what was read into the record. After reviewing the audio transcript, Respondent obtained a copy of the form received by the Grievance Board. Respondent, therefore, first became aware of the second grievance at the level three hearing. The second grievance added the allegation of retaliation and requested additional relief, disciplinary action against the retaliator, but arose out of the same circumstances, Respondent’s three-day suspension of Grievant. Respondent did not object to these additions, which effectually operate as an amendment, and had opportunity to defend against and respond to same. Therefore, the undersigned will address all allegations set forth in the grievance filings of April 1, 2013.


�R Ex 1, 2, and 3.


�Grievant contested the December 28, 2012, PIP in a January 2, 2013, grievance.


�The testimony of Ms. Pillo established that Grievant called the project, not Ms. Pillo, stupid.


�Grievant filed a grievance challenging this suspension. (Docket No. 2013-1666-DHHR).


�Grievant, however, stated she had never seen Ms. Holt before the level three hearing and that she made a request for a private cubicle, which was denied. 


�Grievant filed a grievance challenging this suspension. (Docket No. 2013-2145-DHHR).


�Equal Employment Opportunity.


�Grievant’s representative noted Respondent's failure to provide Policy 2123 in advance of the hearing, stating it was not available to him, but only on “Tri-Net.” The undersigned allowed the hearing to proceed without requiring production of that policy.


�Nondiscriminatory Hostile Workplace Harassment is defined in the DOP’s Prohibited Workplace Harassment Interpretive Bulletin as:





Verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct not discriminatory in nature that is so atrocious, intolerable, and so extreme and outrageous as to exceed bounds of decency and which creates fear, intimidates, ostracizes, psychologically or physically threatens, embarrasses, ridicules, or in some other way unreasonably over burdens or precludes an employee(s) from reasonably performing her or his work.


�This evaluation was not made a part of the record.


�Deyerle v. DHHR, Docket No. 2013-099-DHHR.


�It is beyond this Board’s power to determine an employer’s liability under the Human Rights Act, Syllabus Point 1, Vest, supra, even when the grievance alleges discrimination of the sort that Human Rights Act prohibits.


�It is noted that Mr. Hawkins, when pressed, modestly said that he did not consider himself to be an “expert,” but the undersigned must make that determination.


�Grievant was suspended pursuant to the Administrative Rule of the West Virginia Division of Personnel, 143 C.S.R. 1 §12.3 (2012) which states: 


Suspension - An appointing authority may suspend any employee without pay for cause or to conduct an investigation regarding an employee’s conduct which has a reasonable connection to the employee’s performance of his or her job. The suspension shall be for a specific period of time, except where an employee is the subject of an indictment or other criminal proceeding.


�In Ferrell, et. al., Grievants Ferrell and Marcum were suspended without pay from their positions pending the Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority/Western Regional Jail's investigation into allegations of excessive force made against them. They were not under indictment or the subject of any criminal proceeding. Their suspensions were initially for 15 days, but Respondent discretionarily renewed the suspensions more than once, resulting in suspensions of at least 45 days without pay for each.





�As stated above, Respondent's guidelines were not made a part of the record in this matter. Therefore, it is not possible to determine whether the guidelines reviewed by the Grievance Board in Beaton, Id., are the same as the guidelines referred to in this grievance.


�Therefore, the undersigned, necessarily, did not incorporate any details from Respondent’s “Hostile WorkPlace [sic] Investigation” into the Findings of Fact or rely on any of the information contained in that investigation in arriving at this decision.


�W. Va. Code § 21-5-4(b) provides “Whenever a person, firm or corporation discharges an employee, the person, firm or corporation shall pay the employee's wages in full no later than the next regular payday or four business days, whichever comes first. Payment shall be made through the regular pay channels or, if requested by the employee, by mail. For purposes of this section, "business day" means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any legal holiday as set forth in section one, article two, chapter two of this code.”
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